FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/14/2023 3:58 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/14/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. <u>102649-8</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56806-3-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF DAVID LYNCH,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorney for Appellant:

Gregory A. McBroom, WSBA No. 33133 Matthew J. Smith, WSBA No. 33309 Smith McBroom, PLLC 16400 Southcenter Pkwy, Ste. 210 Seattle, WA 98188 Phone: (206) 778-5128 Greg@SmithMcBroom.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Estate of David Lynch (Estate) petitions for review of the Court decision referenced below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II Court of Appeals (the "Court") procedurally dismissed petitioner's APA judicial review action for lack of standing because David Lynch died during the pendency of appellate review.¹ *Estate of David Lynch v. Washington Health Care Authority*, No. 56806-3-II (Nov. 14, 2023) (Slip op.), attached as Appendix A. The dismissal left undecided the important legal issue of whether HCA's Medicaid third-party resource rule violates established law by automatically taking monetary benefits provided by the U.S. Department of Veteran

¹ "The doctrine of standing generally assesses whether that interest exists at the outset, while the doctrine of mootness considers whether it exists throughout the proceedings." *Uzuegbunam v. Preczewski*, 141 S. Ct. 792, 796 (2021). "The parties do not dispute that Lynch, while alive, had standing." Slip op. at 15. But the Court's unsettled opinion takes away standing upon death of the aggrieved party. Slip op. at 18.

Affairs (VA) to poverty-stricken, ill, and disabled wartime veterans *specifically allocated for medical expenses and services not covered by Medicaid*.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court's termination of APA standing because of Mr. Lynch death during appellate review creates an unjust barrier to judicial review by (1) rejecting the express authority of estates to step into the shoes of decedents for APA causes of action; (2) deciding injury-in-fact terminates upon death; (3) denying redressability by rejecting restitution to return monies wrongfully taken; (4) defining "zone of interests" in terms of how Medicaid does not benefit estates but instead provides for agency recovery against estates; and (5) failing to determine whether the case involves a matter of continuing and substantial public interest necessitating review?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2019, David Lynch (Lynch) was a retired military veteran with disabilities and medical conditions. Administrative

Record (AR) 2-3. He qualified for 158 hours of in-home care per month (7.5 hours per weekday) funded by Medicaid. *Id*. Those services did not cover all his medical needs. *Id*. His unmet needs were dental implants (estimated cost \$57,000) and weekend inhome care. *Id*. Medicaid would not pay for either. *Id*.

Lynch applied for increased pension benefits from the U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs (VA) to pay for implants and weekend care. *Id.* VA awarded him \$765.00 in Aid and Attendance (AA) benefits for weekend care and \$46.00 in Unusual Medical Expenses (UME) benefits for implants, for a total of \$811 per month. *Id.*

In December 2019, the Health Care Authority (HCA) inexplicably decided Lynch's VA benefits were "third-party resources" (TPR) under WAC 182-513-1340(2), increasing Lynch's monthly Medicaid cost from \$105 to \$916 to maintain his existing hours of weekday care. AR 2–4. This prevented Lynch from obtaining weekend care or dental implants. *Id.*; Verbatim Report of Proceedings 50–57.

3

In January 2020, Lynch requested a due process hearing to contest the agency's designation of UME and AA as TPR. AR 4. A hearing was conducted on May 28, 2020. AR 1. In July 2020, an administrative law judge (ALJ) found in Lynch's favor, reversing the agency's TPR determination *based on established case law*. AR 243-45. HCA appealed. AR 468. In September 2020, a review judge from the HCA Board of Appeals reversed the ALJ and upheld the agency action. AR 13. Deciding "the WAC has provisions which determine the outcome of this issue," the review judge refused to consider case law on whether HCA's actions were authorized by Medicaid law. AR 9.

In October 2020, Lynch petitioned for judicial review of the agency order and sought to invalidate the agency rule. Clerk's Papers (CP) 9-12. Lynch challenged the designation of AA and UME benefits as TPR, contending WAC 182-513-1340(2) violates Medicaid law by creating an irrebuttable presumption that AA and UME benefits are always considered TPR for Medicaid-provided services. *Id*. In March 2022, the superior court certified the case to the Court for direct review under RCW 34.05.518, the State Administrative Procedure Act (APA). CP 121-22.

Lynch died on June 23, 2022. He is survived by two adult children, Brian and Jennifer. Brian was appointed personal representative of his father's estate. The Estate was substituted as a party by order under RAP 3.2. Both sides filed briefs on the merits. HCA then asserted the Estate lacks standing to seek judicial review because of Mr. Lynch's death. Agreeing with HCA, the Court dismissed the appeal for lack of standing under RCW 34.05.530.

V. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

A. Under Washington Law, the Estate Stepped into Mr. Lynch's shoes in the APA Cause of Action Regarding HCA's Per Se Rule Requiring Payment of His VA Benefits Intended for Non-Medicaid Services.

This case presents a critical issue of first impression in Washington: whether a pending APA judicial review of an administrative agency's final decision and a challenge to the validity of an agency rule is extinguished by the death of the aggrieved party or whether Lynch's estate has standing to continue the appeal. Under the Court's rationale, the death of a challenging party leads to the automatic dismissal under the Washington APA's standing requirements. This does not comport with Washington or other jurisdictions.

The Estate has a "direct interest" in the APA judicial review. Cf. Hays Elliott Props., LLC v. Horner, 25 Wn. App. 2d 868, 874, 528 P.3d 827 (2023) (because estate steps into shoes of decedent, personal representative has "direct interest" in action executed by decedent's guardian); In re Estate of Hatfield, 46 Wn. App. 247, 251, 730 P.2d 696 (1986) (same). This is particularly true where substitution occurs while an appeal is pending. Colburn v. Spokane City Club, 20 Wn.2d 412, 413-14, 147 P.2d 504 (1944) (in action surviving death of suing party, substitution of executrix of estate for appealing party who dies during appeal "does not affect the appeal taken, but the proper representative of the decedent may be made a party and the appeal may proceed as in other cases" because executrix "stands in the shoes of the decedent"); *see* RAP 3.2 (appellate court will substitute personal representative for deceased on review).

But the Court ruled the Estate does not have standing because (1) no Washington case has decided that an estate has standing when an aggrieved party dies during an APA appeal, and (2) the personal representative's general powers to "step into the shoes of the decedent" under RCW 11.48 do not extend to continuing an APA judicial review involving Medicaid cost recovery. *See* Appx. A, Slip op. at 15-16 & n. 10.

But Washington case law is replete with affirmations of the power of an estate to substitute for the deceased. *Vovos v. Grant*, 87 Wn.2d 697, 700, 555 P.2d 1343 (1976) ("An interest in the subject matter of the litigation sufficient to confer standing may be established either in a personal or a representative capacity."); *Harden v. State Bank of Goldendale*, 118 Wash. 234, 237, 203 P. 16 (1922); *In re Cannon's Estate*, 18 Wash. 101, 106, 50 P. 1021 (1897); *Ostling v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 872 F. Supp. 2d 1117, 1125 (W.D. Wash. 2012). In fact, no Washington case has held the personal representative of a deceased party *does not* have standing to pursue an APA judicial review.

The Court overlooks the *source* of a personal representative's powers to continue a statutory cause of action under the APA: the survival statute, RCW 4.20.046(1). It states:

All causes of action by a person or persons against another person or persons shall survive to the personal representatives of the former and against the personal representatives of the latter, whether such actions arise on contract or otherwise[.]

RCW 4.20.046(1) (emphasis and bold added).

The survival statute allows recovery of "economic losses on behalf of the decedent's estate...in such amounts as determined by a trier of fact to be just under all the circumstances of the case." RCW 4.20.046(2).

Washington's general survival statute, RCW 4.20.046(1), does not create a separate claim for the decedent's survivors, but merely preserves the causes of action a person could have maintained had he or she not died...the survival statute allows the decedent's existing causes of action to survive and continue as an asset of his estate.

Woodall v. Avalon Care Ctr.-Fed. Way, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 919,

931, 231 P.3d 1252 (2010); *Barker v. Mora*, 52 Wn. App. 825, 830, 764 P.2d 1014 (1988) ("When [RCW 4.20.046 - .050] are combined, the result is that *no actions abate* upon the death of a party.") (emphasis added); *Crawford v. Franklin*, No. 37902-3-II, 2009 Wash. App. LEXIS 1472, *8 (Wash. Ct. App. June 16, 2009) (unpublished) (reversing agency decision in favor of estate because decedent had rights to tax exemption before her death that created survivorship rights for a cause of action).

"Cause of action" is "[a] legal theory of a lawsuit" or "[a] group of operative facts giving rise to one or more bases for suing; a factual situation that entitles one person to obtain a remedy in court from another person." *Estate of Dormaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia, P.L.L.C.,* 177 Wn. App. 828, 854 n. 9, 313 P.3d 431 (2013) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009)). "A cause of action is a thing with value. It is owned and can be conveyed." *Legal v. Monroe Sch. Dist.,* 4 Wn. App. 2d 776, 423 P.3d 915, 920 n.5 (2018).

In referring to causes of action preserved, the word "all"

in RCW 4.20.046 "means all" with no exceptions. Wilson v. Grant, 162 Wn. App. 731, 739, 258 P.3d 689 (2011). Since RCW 4.20.046 is a remedial statute that is liberally construed, Lynch's "statutory cause of action" to pursue judicial review survived his death. Cavazos v. Franklin, 73 Wn. App. 116, 118, 867 P.2d 674 (1994); cf. Sierra Club v. Trump, 977 F.3d 853, 876 (9th Cir. 2020) ("States have a cause of action under the APA"); Blue Spirits Distilling, LLC v. Wash. State Liquor & Cannabis Bd., 15 Wn. App. 2d 779, 792, 478 P.3d 153 (2020) (referring to "bring[ing] a claim under the APA" and "filing an APA claim"); *Chamber of Commerce of U.S. v. Reich*, 74 F.3d 1322, 1326-27 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (referring to a "statutory cause of action" under Sec. 702 of federal APA).

Washington's Supreme Court has also looked to what courts in other jurisdictions have done to preserve the "right to appeal" when a party dies during litigation. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Webb*, 167 Wn.2d 470, 476-78, 219 P.3d 695 (2009) (reviewing other state decisions and applying RAP 3.2(a) broadly to allow heirs to substitute for deceased criminal defendant); *Fox v. City of Bellingham*, 197 Wn.2d 379, 388, 482 P.3d 897 (2021) (in case of first impression, Court adopted "expansive approach" in ruling brother is close relative of decedent who has standing to sue for tortious interference).

Many other jurisdictions recognize a decedent's estate has standing to seek judicial review of Medicaid decisions by state agencies. See, e.g., Diversicare of Winfield, LLC v. Ala. Medicaid Agency, No. CL-2022-0714, 2023 Ala. Civ. App. LEXIS 45, at *7 (Ala. Ct. App. Apr. 14, 2023) ("the personal representative could seek judicial review following Steele's death."); Turner v. Md. Dep't of Health, 226 A.3d 419, 434-436 (Md. App. 2020) (personal representative has standing to petition for judicial review from denial of long-term care Medicaid benefits); Freese v. Dep't of Soc. Servs., 169 A.3d 237, 248 (Conn. App. 2017) (personal representatives of deceased Medicaid applicants have standing to seek judicial review of agency's denial of benefits because "decedents...suffered personal legal injuries as a result of the defendant's denials"); Carespring Healthcare Mgmt., LLC v. Dungey, No. 1:16-cv-1051, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34460, at *34 (S.D. Ohio Mar. 2, 2018) (nursing homes have authority under survival statute to file action against Medicaid agency for unlawful calculation of patient liability for Medicaid benefits arising from claims of deceased beneficiaries); In re Gorney Estate, 886 N.W.2d 894, 902 (Mich. App. 2016) (personal representative who step into shoes of decedent has standing to claim Medicaid agency violated decedents' due process rights); Joyner v. North Carolina Dep't of Health, 715 S.E.2d 498 (N.C. App. 2011) (Estate has standing under APA to seek judicial review of agency decision terminating long-term benefits of deceased beneficiary).

B. The Court Erred in Applying an Approach that Circumscribes Access to the Courts Upon Death, Inconsistent with the Legislative Intent of the APA.

"[S]tanding refers to a party's right to bring a legal claim and is not intended to be a 'high bar' to overcome." *Maslonka v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Pend Oreille Cnty.*, 1 Wn.3d 815, 827, 533 P.3d 400 (2023). "Washington APA provisions on standing are still consistent with general standing law." *City of Burlington v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 187 Wn. App. 853, 873 n. 16, 351 P.3d 875 (2015) (*quoting Washington Administrative Law Practice Manual* § 10.02[C] (WSBA 2008)).

The State APA is remedial legislation that should be liberally construed in conformity with court cases interpreting the federal APA and similar acts of other states. See RCW 34.05.001 ("The legislature intends...to provide greater public and legislative access to administrative decision making... courts should interpret provisions of this chapter consistently with decisions of other courts interpreting similar provisions of other states, the federal government, and model acts."); *Navajo Nation* v. U.S. Dep't of the Interior, 819 F.3d 1084, 1090 (9th Cir. 2016) ("The [APA] creates a comprehensive remedial scheme for those allegedly harmed by agency action."); W. Radio Servs. Co. v. U.S. Forest Serv., 578 F.3d 1116, 1122 (9th Cir. 2009) ("The APA expressly declares itself to be a comprehensive remedial scheme" addressing "a person suffering legal wrong because of agency action [] or adversely affected or aggrieved by agency action....") (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 702); *Paramount Farms, Inc. v. Morton*, 527 F.2d 1301, 1303 (7th Cir. 1975) ("Section 702 of the APA has been liberally construed...").

APA standing is a three-pronged test: injury-in-fact, zone of interests, and redressability. Slip op. at 13-14; *City of Burlington*, 187 Wn. App. at 862; *see also* RCW 34.05.530. "These three conditions are derived from federal case law." *Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council v. Apprent. & Training Council*, 129 Wn.2d 787, 793, 920 P.2d 581 (1996).

1. The Estate Meets the Injury-in-Fact Test.

"Washington courts interpret the injury-in-fact test consistently with federal case law." *Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Transp. Benefit Area v. Wash. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 173 Wn. App. 504, 513, 294 P.3d 803 (2013). The injury-in-fact requirement is meant to ensure plaintiff has "a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy." *Susan B. Anthony List v.* Driehaus, 573 U.S. 149, 158 (2014) (citation omitted). A

"personal stake in the outcome of the controversy...assure[s] that concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues upon which the court so largely depends." *Jeckle v. Crotty*, 120

Wn. App. 374, 382, 85 P.3d 931 (2004).

the [injury-in-fact] requirement serves to filter out those with merely generalized grievances who are bringing suit to vindicate an interest common to the entire public. The injury-in-fact requirement is very generous to claimants, demanding only that the claimant allege some specific, identifiable trifle of injury. It is not Mount Everest.

Typically, a plaintiff's allegations of financial harm will easily satisfy each of these components, as financial harm is a classic and paradigmatic form of injury in fact. Indeed, we have explained that where a plaintiff alleges financial harm, standing is often assumed without discussion.

Cottrell v. Alcon Labs., 874 F.3d 154, 162-63 (3rd Cir. 2017);

City of Burlington, 187 Wn. App. at 869 ("The injury in fact test

is not meant to be a demanding requirement. Typically, if a

litigant can show a potential injury is real, that injury is sufficient

for standing."). Indirect harm to the Estate does not preclude

standing. See Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 504-05 (1975).

The Estate's claim of economic loss is sufficient to establish injury in fact. See Seattle Bldg., 129 Wn.2d at 795 (courts "routinely recogniz[e] probable economic injury resulting from agency actions," even when the injury "may not be immediate"); Adarand Constructors, Inc. v. Pena, 515 U.S. 200, 210 (1995) (plaintiff "of course" had standing to seek damages for alleged past economic injury); Cottrell, 874 F.3d at 168 ("financial harm has already occurred, it is not merely possible, or even probable"); Carter v. HealthPort Techs., LLC, 822 F.3d 47, 55 (2d Cir. 2016) ("Any monetary loss suffered by the plaintiff satisfies [the injury-in-fact] element; '[e]ven a small financial loss' suffices."); Maya v. Centex Corp., 658 F.3d 1060, 1069 (9th Cir. 2011) (overpayment claim "is a quintessential injury-in-fact").

2. Blending Standing with the Merits, the Court Uses an Unprincipled Approach to Find the Estate Failed to State a Claim.

The Court decided that the Estate cannot pass the "injuryin-fact" test because it lost no money from the agency's decision, and it must establish its own independent injury separate from Lynch. Slip op. at 15. According to the Court, the Estate could not stand in the shoes of Lynch and claim any derivative injuryin-fact. Slip op. at 16-18. His claimed injury (HCA's wrongful taking of VA monetary benefits) was nullified upon his death. Slip op. at 16-18. This was error.

The Court mistakenly assumed UME and AA benefits are protected only if they are reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred. Slip op. at 16-18. Federal law defines UME to include estimated prospective expenses, even when they are not incurred out-of-pocket expenses. *See* 38 C.F.R. § 3.262(l) ("An estimate based on a clear and reasonable expectation that unusual medical expenditure will be realized may be accepted for the purpose of authorizing prospective payments of benefits subject to necessary adjustment in the award upon receipt of an amended estimate or after the end of the calendar year upon receipt of an income questionnaire."); Slip op. at 12, citing 38 C.F.R. § 3.262(l); *see Cordall v. State*, 96 Wn. App. 415, 425, 980 P.2d 253 (1999) ("A&A is not reimbursement for out-ofpocket medical expenses...it is a monetary allowance that the veteran may use to purchase care from another, such as full time nursing care...."). The Court's reference to *Edwards v*. *Griepentrog*, (Slip op. at 12) is misplaced as it clearly states, "a state cannot require a recipient to assign his or her UME check to the state." 804 F. Supp. 1310, 1312 (D. Nev. 1992).

Standing is generally measured at the outset of judicial review. *See, e.g., Deal v. Mercer Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 911 F.3d 183, 187 (4th Cir. 2018) ("the standing inquiry asks whether a plaintiff had the requisite stake in the outcome of a case 'at the outset of the litigation."). Lynch had standing to seek judicial review of the adverse administrative decision in October 2020 when he petitioned for review. *See* 42 C.F.R. § 431.245 (applicant or beneficiary has "right to…seek judicial review, to the extent that either is available to him").

"[S]tanding in no way depends on the merits of the plaintiff's contention that particular conduct is illegal[.]" *Warth*,

422 U.S. at 500; *Cottrell*, 874 F.3d at 165-66 ("This logic flips the standing inquiry inside out, morphing it into a test of the legal validity of the plaintiffs' claims of unlawful conduct. But...a valid claim for relief is not a prerequisite for standing."); *Cottrell*, 874 F.3d at 164. ("whether a plaintiff has alleged an invasion of a 'legally protected interest' does not hinge on whether the conduct alleged to violate a statute does, as a matter of law, violate the statute.").

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