FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/12/2024 3:57 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102649-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE ESTATE OF DAVID GEORGE LYNCH,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA W. CAMPBELL, WSBA No. 51251 MARKO PAVELA, WSBA No. 49160 NISSA IVERSEN, WSBA No. 46708 Assistant Attorneys General PO Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 Telephone: (360) 586-6565 Joshua.campbell@atg.wa.gov Marko.Pavela@atg.wa.gov Nissa.Iversen@atg.wa.gov OID# 91021

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

by law." *Id.* "This limitation cannot be waived by any party, and a court lacking jurisdiction must enter an order of dismissal." *Id.* at 53 (internal quotations omitted).

To have standing to obtain judicial review under the APA, the Legislature requires a party be aggrieved or adversely affected. RCW 34.05.530. A party is aggrieved or adversely affected only if each of the following requirements is met:

- (1) The agency action has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person;
- (2) That person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged; and
- (3) A judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action.

Sarepta Therapeutics, Inc. v. Health Care Auth., 19 Wn. App. 2d 538, 549, 497 P.3d 454 (2021) (review denied February 8, 2023); Allan v. Univ. of Wash., 140 Wn.2d 323, 326-27, 997 P.2d 360 (2000). The first and third requirements of this standing test are referred to as the "injury-in-fact test," while the

second requirement is the "zone of interests test." *Sarepta*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 550-51. The burden to prove standing is on the claimant. *See id.* at 549.

Estates do not automatically have standing to maintain any actions a decedent had standing to bring, rather they are limited to maintaining property actions that "pertain to the management and settlement of the estate" and their standing may be limited by statutory requirements. RCW 11.48.010, 090. See, e.g., In re Estate of Alsup, 181 Wn. App. 856, 875-76, 327 P.3d 1266 (2014) (personal representative of estate did not have standing to challenge validity of ward's marriage after ward's death in part due to statutory standing requirements limiting persons who could challenge validity of marriage to "only a party to the defective marriage").

Mr. Lynch brought this case asserting HCA's rules were invalid because they prevented him from obtaining healthcare he alleged he needed, but had not incurred. *Lynch v. HCA*, No. 56803-3-II at 17–18; AR 25, 378. Whether Mr. Lynch should

have been permitted to retain his VA healthcare benefits to obtain healthcare, where no healthcare costs were incurred, does not pertain to the administration of the estate.

And, like the statute in *Alsup*, the APA establishes specific elements a "person" must meet to have standing to obtain judicial review or declaratory judgment and invoke a court's appellate jurisdiction. RCW 34.05.010(14) defines "[p]erson" as "any individual, partnership, corporation, association, governmental subdivision or unit thereof, or public or private organization or entity of any character . . . ". This definition necessarily includes an estate, and there is nothing in RCW 34.05.530 or any of the the Estate cites to suggest that standing under RCW 34.05.530 is automatically determined by a decedent that filed an action and not, as the plain language of RCW 34.05.530 states, the "person" seeking to obtain judicial review of agency action.

///

In arguing it has standing, the Estate argues it "stepped into Mr. Lynch's shoes" and has standing based on Mr. Lynch's interests, not its own.² But none of the cases the Estate cites reach that conclusion or address the specific standing requirements the Legislature adopted in the Administrative Procedure Act. See, e.g., Lynch v. HCA, No. 56803-3-II at 15–16. (Discussing In re Estate of Hatfield, 46 Wn. App. 247, 730 P.2d 696 (1986) and Colburn v. Spokane City Club, 20 Wn.2d 412, 147 P.2d 504 **Elliott** Properties, LLC(1944));Hays Horner, 25 Wn. App. 2d 868, 873, 528 P.3d 827 (2023) (specifying personal representatives have authority to maintain suits that "pertain to the management and settlement of the estate. . ."); Ostling v. City of Bainbridge Island, 872 F. Supp. 2d 1117 (U.S. Dist. Ct. W.D. Wa 2012) (decedent's father, mother, and sister

² Despite its argument that the Estate sits in an identical position to Mr. Lynch, the Estate later argues that while it cannot obtain the relief Mr. Lynch was seeking—the ability to obtain healthcare—there is other economic relief it could obtain, thereby acknowledging that it does not share the same interest as Mr. Lynch did. *See, e.g.*, Petition at 21–24.

brought §1983 claim after death of individual after being shot by police officer). And, as the Estate points out, as this Court discussed in *Vovos v. Grant*, 87 Wn.2d 697, 700, 555 P.2d 1343 (1976), "[a]n interest in the subject matter of the litigation sufficient to confer standing **may** be established either in a personal or representative capacity." (emphasis added). An estate's standing to maintain an action is not automatic.

The Estate also raises several arguments suggesting it has standing because causes of action survive a decedent's death. Petition at 9–10. But that does not equate to an Estate automatically having standing to maintain the action or otherwise voids the APA's specific requirement that a person may only obtain judicial review where they meet the APA's statutory requirements. Further, there is no question here that the Estate cannot use the healthcare benefits in question to obtain healthcare, as Mr. Lynch argued he should have been able to throughout this case. If the Estate believes it has a new claim to Mr. Lynch's VA healthcare benefits absent any need for

healthcare or healthcare costs it can file a new cause of action, but that is not the cause of action Mr. Lynch brought or that the Estate seeks to maintain.

Finally, the Estate argues that other states recognize ability to seek judicial review of Medicaid estates' determinations. *Id.* at 11–12. However, again, none of these cases support the Estate's proposition that decedents' estates' standing under RCW 34.05.530 is determined by the decedent, nor are these cases in conflict with the decision at issue. See, e.g. State v. Webb, 167 Wn.2d 470, 476-78, 219 P.3d 695 (2009) (discussing heirs can maintain appeals challenging financial obligations imposed on deceased defendant in criminal cases where such financial obligations would result in unfair burden on heirs); Fox v. City of Bellingham, 197 Wn.2d 379, 388, 482 P.3d 897 (2021) (after conducting full standing analysis, determining brother who took part in preparing deceased sibling's funeral had standing to sue for tortious interference with a corpse); Diversicare of Winfield, LLC v. Ala. Medicaid Agency, 2023 WL 2940338 (Ala. Civ. App. Apr. 14, 2023) (finding petition for judicial review of state Medicaid agency denial of request for rehearing filed by personal representative was untimely and dismissing case and containing no discussion of standing or personal representative authority); Turner v. Md. Dep't of Health, 226 A.3d 419, 434-36 (Md. App. 2020) (finding nursing facility did not have standing to prosecute appeal of Medicaid benefits because "the *only* person who may prosecute an action on the decedent's behalf is the personal representative," without addressing personal representative standing); Freese v. Dep't of Soc. Servs., 176 Conn. App. 64, 80, 169 A.3d 237 (Conn. App. 2017) (noting that to file administrative appeal of denial of decedent's Medicaid benefits plaintiff must establish standing and plaintiffs who filed as next friends could not and remanding to determine whether substitution was appropriate and necessary to determine real matter in dispute); Carespring Healthcare Management, LLC v. Dungey, 2018 WL 1138428 (S.D. Ohio 2018) (nursing home did not have authority to file §1983 claim

to Medicaid benefits for deceased beneficiaries under Ohio's survival statute because they were not administrators of deceased estates, but not addressing standing); In re Gorney Estate, 314 Mich.App. 281, 298, 886 N.W.2d 894, (Mich. App. 2016) (after state sought Medicaid recovery from deceased beneficiaries' estates, estates could assert violation of their due process rights based on adequacy of notice of changes to estate recovery provisions afforded to deceased beneficiaries); Joyner v. North Carolina Dep't of Health, 214 N.C.APP 278, 293, 715 S.E.2d 498, 509 n.8 (N.C. App. 2011) (reversing and remanding trial court determination that Medicaid program improperly applied transfer penalty to decedent's long-term care Medicaid benefits and reversing decision that Medicaid program was required to reimburse decedent for cost incurred for care from the date of transfer penalty). Without question, an estate can seek or maintain judicial review of a decedent's administrative appeal, but that does not obviate an estate's need to establish standing under RCW 34.05.530.

An estate's standing to obtain judicial review is not automatically determined by a decedent's standing. According to the plain language of RCW 34.05.530, an estate, when substituting as the "person" seeking to obtain judicial review, must establish its own standing. The Court of Appeal's decision in this case did not conclude that an estate cannot maintain a petition for judicial review. Rather, it held that where a decedent sought to retain healthcare benefits for the purpose of obtaining healthcare, but had not incurred any associated healthcare expenses, the estate lacks standing under the plain language of RCW 34.05.530 to obtain judicial review because an estate cannot obtain healthcare and the estate in question incurred no associated healthcare debt. To the extent the Estate believes it has new causes of action it can bring a new suit, but this narrow, unpublished decision finding the Estate lacks standing to maintain a suit for healthcare it cannot receive and did not incur costs for does not warrant review by this Court.

1. The Estate cannot meet the injury-in-fact test

The Court of Appeals also correctly determined the Estate lacked standing because it cannot meet the plain language of the APA's injury-in-fact test to remedy the injury Mr. Lynch complained of. *Lynch v. HCA*, No. 56803-3-II at 16–18. The relief Mr. Lynch sought during his administrative proceeding was to retain his VA healthcare benefits to obtain healthcare he alleged the Medicaid program would not cover.

Further, RCW 11.48 limits personal representatives to continuing actions for recovery of property and relevant to the administration of the estate, and neither a person or estate has a property interest in receiving public benefits that are intended to be used toward a living person's healthcare. Rather, public benefits recipients do not have a property interest in continued receipt of benefits. *See Levesque v. Sheehan*, 821 F. Supp. 779, 788-89 (D. Maine 1993); *Bowen v. Gilliard*, 483 U.S. 587, 605, 107 S. Ct. 3008 (1987). "It would be quite strange indeed if, by virtue of an offer to *provide* benefits to needy families . . .

Congress or the States were deemed to have *taken* some of those very family members' property [by not providing them]." *Bowen*, 483 U.S. at 605 (emphasis in original).

Under the injury-in-fact test, a petitioner must show that the agency decision caused a specific and perceptible harm; there must be an invasion of a legally protected interest. Sarepta, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 550-51. The party seeking review must "establish a concrete interest of her own that has been injured." Lynch v. HCA, 2023 WL2776572 (W.D. Wash. March 20, 2023) at *32 (citing Allan, 92 Wn. App. at 36). "Conjectural or hypothetical injuries are insufficient to confer standing." Sarepta, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 550. And, generally speaking, "[t]he interest shown cannot be simply the abstract interest of the general public in having others comply with the law." Vovos, 87 Wn.2d at 699. Finally, the petitioner must show that a favorable decision will likely—not speculatively—redress the injury. Sarepta, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 550.

Because Mr. Lynch is deceased and the Estate cannot use his AA and UME benefits to obtain health care for itself, and the Estate owes no healthcare debt associated with Mr. Lynch's VA healthcare benefits, it is not injured by the final order or WAC 182-513-1340(2)(b).

In addition, to the extent the Estate now argues it has suffered some economic injury in the absence of a need for healthcare, that was not the injury Mr. Lynch complained of during his administrative proceeding. Lynch v. HCA, No. 56803-3-II at 3, 17–18. See also, e.g., AR 25, 378. Issues not raised before the agency cannot be raised before the Court of Appeals for the first time on review. See Ladyhelm Farm, LLC v. Wash. State Liquor & Cannabis Bd., 25 Wn. App. 2d 658, 665, 524 P.3d 700 (2023). And, further, in a related proceeding, a federal district court held that while he was alive Mr. Lynch did not have a protected property interest in HCA paying an increased amount toward the cost of his Medicaid services. Lynch v. Health Care Authority, 2022 WL 293137 at *3. The Court of Appeals reached

the same conclusion and correctly noted that because the benefits in question are not property the Estate can pursue, the Estate was not injured therefore could not meet the plain language to establish standing under RCW 34.05.530. *Lynch v. HCA*, No. 56803-3-II at 15 n.10.

While the Estate could substitute for Mr. Lynch and this action did not automatically abate upon Mr. Lynch's death, there is no injury to the Estate and no way for the Court to redress the original injury Mr. Lynch complained of because he is deceased, thus the Estate does not have standing to maintain the administrative action Mr. Lynch brought under the APA. The Court of Appeals correctly determined the Estate could not establish standing under the plain language of RCW 34.05.530. That a party must establish standing under RCW 34.05.530 to obtain judicial review of an agency action is well settled and does not present an issue of substantial public interest this Court should review.

2. The Estate cannot meet the zone of interests test

The Court of Appeals also noted the Estate could not meet the zone of interests test because its interests were not among those the Legislature intended HCA to consider when promulgating the Medicaid program. *Lynch v. HCA*, No. 56803-3-II at 18 n.12. The zone of interests test requires that a "person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged." RCW 34.05.530(2).

As the Court of Appeals recognized, the Washington State Legislature clearly did not intend HCA to consider estates' financial interests in creating the Medicaid program. *Id.* Consistent with federal law, the Legislature directed HCA to "file liens, seek adjustment, or otherwise effect recovery for medical assistance correctly paid on behalf of an individual" from estates. RCW 43.20B.080(1)-(3). The Legislature further directed:

(1) It is the intent of the legislature to ensure that needy individuals have access to basic long-term care without requiring them to sell their homes. In the face of rising medical costs and limited funding for social welfare programs, however, the state's medicaid and state-funded long-term care programs have placed an increasing financial burden on the state. By balancing the interests of individuals with immediate and future unmet medical care needs, surviving spouses and dependent children, adult nondependent children, more distant heirs, and the state, the estate recovery provisions RCW 43.20B.080 and 74.39A.170 provide an equitable and reasonable method of easing the state's financial burden while ensuring the continued viability of the medicaid and state-funded long-term care programs.

RCW 43.20B.090(1).

Thus, not only did the Legislature not intend HCA to consider the economic interests of a deceased beneficiary's estate when promulgating or operating the Medicaid program, but the Legislature affirmatively requires HCA to recover funds from a deceased beneficiary's estate to recoup the costs of Medicaid services provided to the beneficiary. It would be an absurd outcome if an estate could seek payment from the Medicaid program absent any outstanding healthcare expenses the estate

owes, where the estate's assets are subject to recovery by the Medicaid program.

Because the Legislature did not intend HCA to consider an estate's interests when promulgating its long-term care Medicaid rules, and in fact requires the opposite, the Court of Appeals also correctly noted the Estate cannot meet the zone of interests test to show standing to obtain judicial review under the APA—especially under the new theory of economic loss to the estate it presents for the first time on appeal.

In light of the Legislature's clear directive to HCA, the Court of Appeal's decision noting the Legislature did not intend HCA to consider estate's financial interests when promulgating or operating the Medicaid program, does not present an issue of substantial public interest this Court should review.

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